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September 29, 2011

Mr. Dan E. Gustafson
Partner

Gustafson Gluek PLLC
650 Northstar East

608 Second Avenue South
Minneapolis, MN 55402

" Dear Mr. Gustafson,

On behalf of the Committee on the Judiciary’s Subcommittee on Intellectual Property,
Competition and the Internet, I want to express our sincere appreciation for your participation in
the hearing on “The Proposed Merger between Express Scripts and Medco”. Your testimony
was informative and will assist us in future deliberations on the important issues addressed
during the hearing.

Also, please find a verbatim transcript of the hearing enclosed for your review. The
Committee’s Rule III (e) pertaining to the printing of transcripts is as follows:

The transcripts...shall be published in verbatim form, with the material requested
for the record...as appropriate. Any requests to correct any errors, other than
transcription, shall be appended to the record, and the appropriate place where
the change is requested will be footnoted.

Please return your transcript edits to the Committee on the Judiciary by October 13, 2011,
Please send them to the Committee on the Judiciary, Attention: Olivia Lee, B-352 Rayburn
House Office Building, Washington, D.C., 20515. If you have any further questions or concerns,
please contact Ms. Lee at (202) 225-5741.

Thank you again for your testimony.

Sincerely,

Lamar Smith
Chairman
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Mr. GOODLATTE. And now we will hear from Mr. Gustafson.

Welcome;

TESTIMONY OF DAN E. GUSTAFSON

Mr. GUSTAFSON. Chairman Goodlatte, thank you for
providing me the opportunity to testify today. My name is
Dan Gustafson, and I practice antitrust law at Gustafson
Gluek in Minneapolis. I am also working with a group at the
American Antitrust Institute to evaluate the proposed merger.

Although our work is preliminary, we have identified
several potential concerns with regard to this merger, but
before I identify these concerns, let me emphasize first that
the time for careful evaluation of this merger is now.
Although antitrust_enforcement can sbmetimes undo the effects
of already concentrated markets or anticompetitive conduct,
preventing such conduct before it occurs is far more
effective antitrust and public policy. For that reason we
applaud the FTC’s second request for information as it
continues to evaluate this merger proposal.

PBMs play an important and ever-expanding role in our
health care system. They touch most American lives in their
role as managers of prescription drug benefits through their

pharmacy claims processing, formulary management and
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home-delivery pharmacy services. Théy also negotiate
discounts and rebates on purchases from pharmaceutical
compénies. |

The market for natioﬁal PBM serviées is already
concentrated. CVS Caremark, Express Scripts and Medco
control moré than 50 percent of the market when measured in
terms of prescriptions, and over 80 percent of_the market
when méasured in terms of large plan-sponsored contracts. A

merged Express Scripts-Medco company will overwhelmingly

Idomihate the DPBM services market, covering nearly 150 million

prescription drug consumers and over 50 percent of the large
plan sponsors. In terms of covered lives, no other PBM would
remotely approach Express Scripts—Medco{

As a result of our evaluation of this merger, we raise
several concerns. First, will the merger reduce competition
for the ?rovision of PBM services to large plan sponsors?
Although there are numerous smaller PBMs, many of these-
smaller entities operate only in regions, some serve only a
special niche markets such as government services, and other
offer a limited menu of services in areas such as specialty
drugs, mail order or claims processing. The smaller PBMs
lack the ability to negotiate th¢ same diécouﬁts and rebaﬁes
from drug manufacturers that large PBMs can obtain. As a
result, regional PBMs may be unable to comnstrain potential

anticompetitive conduct.
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Second, will the proposed merger lead to increésed
prices of reduced services in the distribution of specialty
pharmaceuticals? Significant concerns exist in the market
for the distribution of specialty drugs where Express Scripts
and Medco will own the two largest specialty pharmacy
businesses. The proposed merger will result in a company
holding more than a 50 percent share of the specialty
pharmacy market segment. Specialty pharmacies provide
important service and treatments to consumers with complex,
chronic and cften iife—threatening illnessgses. They often
help administer complex treatments, work with physicians to
monitor patient therapy, and play a role in the medication
compliance issues. Reduced competitioﬁ in this market
segment could lead to increased costs and reduced services to
the consumers who depend oﬁ thogse treatments the most.

Third, will the pfoposed merger increase the exercise of
buyer power to reduce the delivery of traditional
pharmaceutical services? We are concerned that the major
PBMs already possess the ability and incentive to exercise
market power over retail independént and chain pharmaCies.

Reimbursements from the PBMs is a major source of their

revenue, and the proposed merger could enable the two

remaining large PBMs to push compensation to the retail
pharmacies below competitive levels, eliminating jobs and

leading to reduced and important services for their
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consumers .

This proposed merger would also create the largest
mail-order pharmacy in the United States, accounting for
nearly 60 percent of all mail-order scripts, because large
PBMs could divert prescriptions to their own mail-order
facilities instead of to their retail traditional pharmacies.

They_could maximize their own gains if they then select
drugs on which they réceive superior rebates from
manufacturers. The opportunity for potentiaily
anticompetitive self-dealing which harms consumers may be
enhanced by the creation of a dominant PBM in the mail-order
pharmacy market space and elimination of one of its only two
competitors.

Finally, -we need to be careful to éxamine the claim
deficiencies to determine if the savings that are proposed
are gpecific to this merger and cannot otherwise be obtained
by means unrelated to the merger. A carefﬁl analysis made as
to whether and to what degree these claimed efficiencies will
actually be passed on to plans, and therefore consumers, is
important as well.

Past consolidation in this industry provides sufficient
data to evaluate the previous efficienoy promises that have
been made. The recent spike in the profiﬁs of the largest
PBMs suggest less and not more competition and, as a result,

higher prices for plans and for consumers.
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Thank you for providing me the opportunity to testify

today. I am happy to answer any questions that you may have.

Mr. GOODLATTE. Thank you, Mr. Gustafson.

[The statement of Mr. Gustafson follows:]

kkkkkxkk TNSERT 1-5 *xkkkkkk
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pharmacist to call up doctors to tell them that they
prescribe the wrong thing.

Mr. LECH. ©Oh, it happens all the time, practically
daily.

Mr. CONYERS. Oh, really?

Mr.. WIESNER. That is a daily occurrence, sir.

Mr. CONYERS. All right, let me recognize my friend over
here.

Mr. GUSTAFSON. Congresasman, I wanted to answer the
question about fraud and abuse. .I would suggest that the
best thing that will combat the fraud, waste.and abuse would
be mdre vigorous competition. If these companies are forced
to fine tune their‘operations in order to lower théir costs

so they can lower their bids to the customers that they seek

to obtain contracts from, that alone will generate the best

cost savings through saving fraud, waste and abuse.

And I was going to respond to Congressman Watt when he
asked what would be missing if these two companies combined.
What we wiil be missing is a national bidder in each of these
accounts. When they have national accounts that they puﬁ out
to bid every 3 vyears, what will be missing from the
éompetitive landscape is a company that is capable of making
a bid on those contracts.

Mr. LECH. In regard to fraud, waste and abuse, if I

could reference the document I mention, Waste Not-Warit Not,
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have fewer options and thus not be in a position to demand
greater transparency?

Mr. GUSTAFSON. I_think that is right, Congresswoman. I
think one of the things that competition does in this
marketplace, in any marketplace, is it forces the seller to
be more transparent because the consumer has more choices, or
in this case the plan sponsor or whoever the customer is in
that instance. 8¢ I think that concentration in this market
will allow the participants who reméin to be less
transparent, and I think that is bad for the competition
levels and it is bad ultimately for the consumers.

Ms. CHU. Okay. Thaﬁk you.

Mr. GOODLATTE. I thank the gentlewoman. The gentleman
from New York, Mr. Nadlef, is recognized for 5 minutes.

Mr. NADLER. I thank the chairman.

Mr, Gustafson, Mr. Watt discussed the issue of product
markets. What do you see as the relevant product markets for
aﬁtitrust purpeses that should be analyzéd as part of this
mérger and in which product markefs would concentration under
the merger cause the most concern and could divestitures in
any of these market alleviate those concerns?

Mr. GUSTAFSON. Congressman, I think that there
ig--probably the FTC will ultimately decide that there is
more than one market here. There certainly seems to be

markets that--at this stage of our investigation that large
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plan sponsors is probably a market, the specialty drugs may
very weli be a market. So I think that there is--mail ofder
may be a market. Probably not, but it is possibly a
different marketplace. But ultimétely I think there is more
than one market. |

The qﬁestion about whether divestitures would be a
solution to this merger, it is probably too early to tell,

but there are certainly some things that you could consider

'in terms of divestiture that would be usefﬁl. One is the

speciality drug companies that these two merger partners own.
Another would be the mail order businesses that they own or
part of the mail order businesses, because both of those
instances would lessen their grip on the national accounts.

Mr. NADLER. Thank you.

Mr. Snow, you testified that the merger would giﬁe the
new combined company greater power to negétiate prices with
drug companies and therefore would result in lower drug
prices.

Mr. SNOW. Correct.

Mr. NADLER. Would you say the same principle would
apply if we were to say that Medicare could negotiate drug
prices with the pharmaceutical companies and if we let them
negotiate the prices, instead of prohibiting them by law, the
market power of Medicare would cause a great reduction in

drug prices for Medicare?
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defined. It defines a marketplace. It is not a county-wide
or.region-wide or every independent pharmacy.

Mr. GOCDLATTE. Mr. Lech, I hate to interrupt you, but
the gentleman’s time hasg long expired.

Mr. NADLER. I thank the chairman for his indulgence.

Mr. GOODLATTE. The gentieman from Florida, Mr. Deutch,
is recognized for 5 minutes. |

Mr. DEUTCH. Thank you; Mr . Chairman.

Mr. Chairman, as I brought up in a letter to-the FTC
Chairman, I have.heard some real concerns from constituents
in my district that the acquisition could result-in
diminished competition, could have a negative impact on
healthcare costs, or could jeopardize the overall quality of
patient care, and I would like to focus on two of those, if. I
may. The first is cost.

Mr. Snow, if I understood you correctly, you said that,
or if you could elaborate, there would be $1 billion passed
back to consumers. I would like to understand that. And
then, Mr. Gustafson, after Mr. Snow explains, if you could
respond, because I think what you said earlier in youf
testimony was that past consolidation suggests that there
will be higher prices for consumers.

Mr. Snow, could you speak fifst?

Mr. SNOW. Absolutely. Thank you. 8o we have contracts

with clients today that have 100 pexcent pass-through of our
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pricing, of our rebates. So when a mexrger like this occurs,

yvou actually combine the best-of-breed contracting that we

currently have as independent companies today. When you just

look at best-of-breed contracts between the two companies
post-merger, it results in $1 billion of'savings that by
definition under our existing contracts with our clients they
get immediate benefit for. It goes right back. 2And when T
say client, it is our employer customers and our health plan
customers and our State government customers.

Mr. DEUTCH. So Mr. Gustafson, could you help me make
some sense of this, because ultimately I am concerned about
the T am fact it is going to have on consumers.

Mr. GUSTAFSON. What I had testified about was that when
they claim the $1 billion in efficiencies, we need to make
sure we document it, because we have had a lot of

consolidation in this industry where promises have been made.

- We have a data set. We can go back and look. When CVS and

Caremark merged( they made promiges about efficieﬁcies, and
when——

Mr. DEUTCH. I am sorry, Mr. Gustafson. What kind of
promises were made and what was the result?

Mr. GUSTAFSON. Well, I am not familiar with the
specifics of the promises as I sit here, but I know thé
mergers were defended on the basis that they would provide

cost savings which would be passed on. And the data that I
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have seen suggests that the profits of these companies are
soaring, which suggests that they are noﬁ passiﬁg it omn,
which suggests that they are taking whatever savings they get
and putting them through to their bottom line.

Mr. DEUTCH. I appreciate that. I would like, Mr. Lech,
if I could turn to you for a moment. In your testimony yéu.
talked about the gradual shift of smaller and medium-sized
PBMs being bought out by larger ones and you mentioned that
the reduced competition hurts smaller pharmacies like yours.

Can you speak specifically--can you help us understand

what that looks like for your customers? Those negotiations

“with PBMs that have changed, what impact has it had on the

customers, on the consumers?'

Mr. LECH. Well, the reason it will have aAnegative
effect is basically because it is a take it or leave it
contract. The statement was made earlier that, you know, we
are very business-minded, savvy péople, and if we get a
contract that doesn’t loock good, we are going to say no.
Well, that is hard to do. It is not hard to do
business-wige, but hard to do in a humane kind of way, to say
"Congressman, I can‘t f£ill your prescriptions anymore." So
access torthe pharmacy of their cheoice and I believe also
ultimately the price and the cost.

What we have seen in all these claims of we ére going to

reduce costs, we are doing to reduce costs, the prescription
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standards and underneath, you know, our client contracts, he
ig an important component of our offering.

Mr. GOODLATTE. Mr. Lech?

Mr. LECH. What Mr; Paz fails to tell you is that the
Department of Defense-is a special entity, because through
the mail they are given larger discounts. Those discounts
have not passed on as much to me as an independent pharmacy.
So the economies of scale are different with the Department
of Defense because their contracting ability is greafer than
your average corporate purchaser.

Mr. PAZ. The savings, though, is discussed--

Mr. GOODLATTE. I can't go back and forth too many
times.

Mr. Gustafson, you testified that the Express
Scripts-Medco merger reduces the number of viable pfoviders
of PBM services to iarge plan sponsors from three to two.
Why aren’t Catalyst, Optum Rx and Prime Therapeutics, which
already handled plans for Fortune 50 companies, viable
providefs of PBM services to large plan sponsors? Catalyst
hag won contracts for such large employers as Ford Motor
Company, Nike, Sprint, Waste Management and Southwest
Airlines. .

Mr. GUSTAFSON. They are not as-big, and when these two
combine, they are going to be bigger yet. And when they take

that combination, they are going to be able to extract more
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discounts on the side of the pharmaceutical companies, they
are golng to be able to_direct more to the mail order, they
are going to have a bigger control of the specialty pharmacy
products. All of that is going to make them more powerful
vig--vis the other PBMs.

Optum Rx is a good example because they suffer from
another potential problem. UnitedHealth Care, their
underlying parent, I guess it ig, ig a competitor of other
plan sponsors. And so there has been a fair amount written
about the reluctance of éigné or Aetna or gomeone like that
to use a PBM like Optum Rx because of the potential issues
with respect to data access, things like that.

But I think the question that we ought to address in
this is how big is big enough? I mean, 1f we were talking
about a merger of--

Mr. GOODLATTE. Under the antitrust law that is not the
igsue that we address. The issue that you address is do they
have market power that would preclude others from being able
to enter the marketplace and offer competitive plans that
would maintain the competition that is, in the view of»F-
certainly in my view--in view of the law as it is written, is
a desirable thing to have?

er. GUSTAFSON. Sure. I adgree Qith that. What I was
sﬁggesting was how big is big enough with.respect to the

efficiencies they claim they can garner by getting together
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2119| and being bigger? At some point, you know, there are no more
2120| efficiencies that can be gained by getting bigger. They only
2121 | become able to extract the power that they have--

2122 Mr. GOODLATTE. Well, ﬁhat is the underlying issue, not
2123 ]| how large they have to be and still maintain their

2124 | efficiency.

2125/ But let me yield to the genﬁleman from North Carolina
2126| Mr. Watt and see if he has any additional questions.

2127 Mr. WATT. Well, I have got all kinds of questions. I
2128| am not sure what they have to do with the merger, but I am
2129| just trying to be a little bit clearer on how this industry
2130| fits together.

2131 Somebody help - me if I am leaving out somebody. You have
2132 | got pharmaceutical companies, you have got pians. Those are
2133 | the insurers, right, or self-employed--self-insured

2134 | employers, right?

2135 Mr. LECH. Payers.

2136 Mr. WATT. Payers. You have got independent pharmacies.
2137 That is Mr. Lech. You have got chain pharmacieg. That is
2138 | Mr. Wiesner and CVS énd Rite Aid and—;

2139 Mr. SNOW. Walgreens.

2140 Mr. WATT. Walgreens. You have got PBMs, and you héve
2141 got customers.

2142 Mr. SNOW. You also have big box pharmacies. Walmart,

2143 | Target, Costco.
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guideline, not only merger guidelines, but a remedies
guideline, along with the Department of Justice, and so they
can look at some divestiture issues in an appropriate
context. But it is very detailed aboﬁt when they can look
and what the implications of divestiture might be for the
merged entity, yes.

Mr. WATT. Mr. Gusfafson, what is your take on the
divestiture question I raised before? 2And then I am going
stop and yield back. |

Mr. GUSTAFSON. I think it is certainly something that
the FTC should look at. I mean, what makes this potential
combination a concern is the fact that they do have the
méil—order operations and the specialty pharmaceuticals,-
because it increases the leverage they have in the
marketplace. And so I think it is certainly an option that
the FTC ought to explore. But I think that you heardrthat
they are not interested in this merger if they have to be
divested of those services.

Mr. WATT. Can they explore it, Ms. Kanwit?

Ms. KANWIT. I have a response to that. Specialty is
really critical, as you just heard Mr. Paz and Mr. Snow
comment. I mean Teva just came out with a multiple sclerosis
drug which would cost upwards of 42-, $45,000 a year. We are
talking very, very expensive drugs. One of things PBMs do |

that the FTC has found is drive down costs by negotiating




